



## DISCIPLINE

Effective Date:

11.1 ~~SECTION 1. PURPOSE: GENERAL~~

~~A. In order to correct unacceptable conduct or deteriorating performance, disciplinary actions may be taken by the immediate supervisor of an employee, or the Department Head or Town Manager. Disciplinary actions include, but are not limited to: documented counseling sessions; verbal reprimands; written reprimands; suspensions without pay; probationary periods; demotions; and dismissal from employment. An employee may request a copy of any disciplinary documentation from their supervisor or their personnel file.~~

~~B. The department should take action within (30) working days of the occurrence or discovery of the infraction, unless extenuating circumstances exist including, but not limited to, investigation (s) of wrongful conduct, discrimination/sexual harassment or accident. The disciplinary action will depend on the totality of the circumstances including, but not limited to, the employee's disciplinary history, recent or similar infraction (s) and the severity of the infraction(s). Specific disciplinary actions are subject to Town grievance procedures.~~

**A. EACH EMPLOYEE IS EXPECTED TO FAMILIARIZE THEMSELVES WITH HIS OR HER JOB PERFORMANCE EXPECTATIONS AND STANDARDS; WITH THE RULES, PROCEDURES AND STANDARDS OF CONDUCT ESTABLISHED BY THE TOWN COUNCIL, TOWN MANAGER, AND HIS OR HER DEPARTMENT. ANY EMPLOYEE WHO DOES NOT MEET HIS OR HER JOB STANDARDS SET OUT BY SUCH PERFORMANCE CRITERIA, RULES, PROCEDURES, AND STANDARDS OF CONDUCT MAY BE SUBJECT TO ADVERSE PERSONNEL ACTIONS.**

**B. THE TOWN'S DISCIPLINARY POLICY AND PROCEDURES ARE DESIGNED TO PROVIDE A STRUCTURED CORRECTIVE ACTION PROCESS AND PREVENT A RECURRENCE OF THE UNDESIRABLE AND/OR PERFORMANCE ISSUE. THE TOWN'S DISCIPLINE PROCEDURES ARE GENERALLY PROGRESSIVE, HOWEVER THE SERIOUSNESS OF THE OFFENSE MAY LEAD TO IMMEDIATE DISMISSAL. IN ADDITION ANY COMBINATION OF DISCIPLINARY ACTIONS MAY BE USED.**

**C. ALL DISCIPLINARY ACTIONS SET FORTH IN THIS SECTION ARE GOVERNED SOLELY BY THE DUE PROCESS PROCEDURES SET FORTH HEREIN. DISCIPLINARY ACTIONS SET FORTH IN THIS SECTION ARE NOT SUBJECT TO THE GRIEVANCE PROCEDURES SET FORTH IN PERSONNEL POLICY 18.**

**D. COVERAGE.**

**THE DISCIPLINARY PROCESS IS NOT AVAILABLE TO EMPLOYEES WHO ARE ON HIS OR HER ORIGINAL PROBATION PERIOD OR ARE CLASSIFIED AS PART-TIME AT-WILL NON-BENEFIT ELIGIBLE EMPLOYEES.**

**E. RELIEF FROM DUTY.**

**NOTHING IN THIS SECTION SHALL PRECLUDE THE DEPARTMENT HEAD FROM IMMEDIATELY PLACING AN EMPLOYEE ON PAID ADMINISTRATIVE LEAVE PENDING APPLICATION OF THESE DISCIPLINARY ACTIONS AND PROCEDURES.**

**F. RESPONSIBILITY OF THE TOWN MANAGER:**

**THE TOWN MANAGER, OR DESIGNEE, MAY EXERCISE THE POWERS OF THE DEPARTMENT HEAD PROVIDED FOR IN THIS SECTION AND MUST BE NOTIFIED OF**



DISCIPLINE

Effective Date:

ANY SUSPENSIONS WITHOUT PAY, DEMOTIONS OR INVOLUNTARY DISMISSALS PRIOR TO THESE ACTIONS BEING TAKEN BY THE DEPARTMENT HEAD. FOR COURT EMPLOYEES, THE TOWN MAGISTRATE WILL EXERCISE THE AUTONOMY REQUIRED TO MAINTAIN PROPER SEPARATION OF POWERS.

~~SECTION 2. — DEFINITIONS:~~

~~**Appointing Authority** — The Town Manager or other persons authorized by the Town of Oro Valley to make employment decisions.~~

~~**Working Days** — Monday thru Friday, 8 a.m. — 5 p.m. Holidays recognized by the Town of Oro Valley are not considered working days.~~

~~**Disciplinary Action** — Written reprimand, demotion, suspension, reduction in pay/position or discharge imposed for just cause.~~

~~**Just cause** — Justification to administer discipline to a Town employee when a Town code, policy, procedure, or administrative directive is violated.~~

~~SECTION 3. — LEVEL OF RESPONSIBILITY:~~

~~Responsibility of the Immediate Supervisor (other than Department Heads): Immediate Supervisors shall have the authority to give documented counseling, recommend placing employees on probationary period, and issue either verbal or written reprimands, and to recommend more serious disciplinary action to the Department Head. As needed, written reprimands shall be discussed with the Human Resources Director (or designee) prior to being given.~~

~~Responsibility of the Department Head: In addition to the responsibilities of an immediate supervisor, place employees on probationary period and in consultation with the Human Resources Director, the Department Head may authorize suspension without pay for periods up to thirty (30) working days, demote employees within a pay grade or from one pay grade to another or from one classification to another, dismiss employees from Town employment.~~

~~Responsibility of the Town Manager: The Town Manager, or designee, may exercise the powers of the Department Head provided for in this section and must be notified of any suspensions without pay, demotions or involuntary dismissals prior to these action being taken by the Department Head. For court employees, the Town Magistrate will exercise the autonomy required to maintain proper separation of powers.~~

~~At every level of responsibility, the following shall be considered when implementing disciplinary action for just cause:~~

~~The employee was forewarned of the consequences of his or her actions.~~

~~The violated rule or order reasonably relates to the business efficiency and performance expectations of the Town.~~

~~A thorough, fair and objective investigation was conducted.~~

~~The investigation produced substantial evidence or proof of employee's guilt.~~

~~The codes, policies, procedures or administrative directives were applied evenhandedly and without discrimination.~~

~~The discipline is reasonably related to the seriousness of the conduct and/or performance and the employee's past record.~~



DISCIPLINE

Effective Date:

11.2 ~~SECTION 4:~~ CONDUCT OR PERFORMANCE that may REQUIRE DISCIPLINE for CAUSE:

- A. Depending on the seriousness of the situation and surrounding circumstances, including repeated offenses or chronic poor performance, the Department Head may authorize any disciplinary action deemed appropriate. ~~Progressive discipline is not required under Town policies and procedures.~~
- B. When considering or enforcing discipline, the supervisor is required to comply with federal and state laws.

**C. EMPLOYEES MAY DISCIPLINED FOR THE FOLLOWING REASONS:**

1. Dishonesty.
2. Falsification of Town documents or records, including application for employment.
3. Inefficiency.
4. Neglect of duty.
5. Unauthorized absenteeism.
6. Unauthorized tardiness.
7. Malingering.
8. Insubordination, including, but not limited to, conduct which is unruly.
9. Commission or Conviction of a crime.
10. Misuse of Town property.
11. Failure to perform job duties and responsibilities.
12. Failure to maintain minimum qualifications for position.
13. Incompetence.
14. Engaging in prohibited political activities.
15. Discrimination or failure to abide by Equal Employment Opportunity regulations.
16. Any action, on or off the job that brings discredit to the Town.
17. Possessing, dispensing, or being under the influence of alcohol, a narcotic, barbiturate, marijuana, or a tranquilizing or hallucinogenic drug, while on duty, except in accordance with medical authorization or in the lawful performance of the employee's regular assigned duties.
18. Violation of any Town codes, policies, procedures, administrative directives, ordinances, or State or Federal law.
19. Negligence.
20. Sexual or other workplace harassment.
21. Fraud in securing appointment or securing or attempting to secure worker's compensation benefits.
22. Discourtesy to another employee or member of the public.
23. Any other reason deemed valid by Town Administration.

11.3 ~~SECTION 5:~~ ~~TYPES of DISCIPLINE~~ DISCIPLINARY ACTIONS:

**A. INFORMAL DISCIPLINE.**

**INFORMAL DISCIPLINE INCLUDES IMMEDIATE ACTIONS TAKEN BY SUPERVISORS TO CORRECT UNDESIRABLE ACTIONS OR TO ADDRESS EMPLOYEE PERFORMANCE ISSUES. INFORMAL DISCIPLINARY ACTIONS ARE NOT APPEALABLE OR GRIEVABLE.**



## DISCIPLINE

Effective Date:

1. **VERBAL COUNSELING. A SUPERVISOR MAY ENGAGE IN VERBAL COUNSELING WITH AN EMPLOYEE AT ANY TIME TO ADDRESS AN ISSUE WITH PERFORMANCE OR CONDUCT. THE VERBAL COUNSELING SESSION IS TO BE DOCUMENTED BY THE SUPERVISOR AND ACKNOWLEDGED BY THE EMPLOYEE. THE DOCUMENT WILL THEN BE RECORDED IN THE EMPLOYEE'S DEPARTMENT SUPERVISOR FILE.**
2. **LETTER OF COUNSELING. A SUPERVISOR MAY ISSUE A LETTER OF COUNSELING TO AN EMPLOYEE AT ANY TIME TO CORRECT OR IMPROVE IMPROPER CONDUCT OR PERFORMANCE. THE LETTER SHALL CONTAIN THE SPECIFICS OF THE IMPROPER CONDUCT OR PERFORMANCE; A PLAN FOR IMPROVEMENT; AND THE DATE FOR A FOLLOW-UP MEETING. A COPY OF THE LETTER, WITH THE EMPLOYEE'S ACKNOWLEDGEMENT AND WRITTEN RESPONSE, SHALL BE RECORDED IN THE EMPLOYEE'S DEPARTMENT SUPERVISOR FILE**

~~*A Documented Counseling Session with or without Verbal Reprimand:* meetings between the employee and immediate supervisor or Department Head, for the purpose of improving conduct or performance that has begun to show the need for corrective action. Counseling sessions may include a reprimand communicated verbally or in writing to the employee by the immediate supervisor to specify conduct or performance that does not meet expectations. The session is documented to indicate date and nature of the concern, and any improvement actions agreed upon. The document will be kept by the supervisor or department head in accordance with Arizona Public Record laws and a copy provided to the employee. Normally, the document does not become part of the Town personnel file unless improvement is not made, however, reference to the counseling session or need for improvement may be included in the annual performance appraisal or if further disciplinary action occurs.~~

**B. FORMAL DISCIPLINE.****1. LETTER OF REPRIMAND.**

- a. **A DEPARTMENT HEAD OR DESIGNEE MAY ISSUE A LETTER OF REPRIMAND TO AN EMPLOYEE TO ADMONISH AN EMPLOYEE FOR SERIOUS OR REPETITIVE DEFICIENT PERFORMANCE OR MISCONDUCT. THE LETTER WILL CONTAIN:**
  - i. **THE SPECIFICS OF THE DEFICIENT PERFORMANCE OR MISCONDUCT;**
  - ii. **THE ACTION PLAN FOR IMPROVEMENT;**
  - iii. **THE CONSEQUENCES OF REPEATED INFRACTIONS; AND**
  - iv. **THE DATE OF THE FOLLOW-UP MEETING.**
- b. **A COPY OF THE LETTER, WITH THE EMPLOYEE'S ACKNOWLEDGEMENT AND/OR RESPONSE, WILL BE RECORDED IN THE EMPLOYEE'S OFFICIAL PERSONNEL FILE IN THE TOWN'S HUMAN RESOURCES DEPARTMENT. THE LETTER OF REPRIMAND IS NOT APPEALABLE OR GRIEVABLE.**

~~*B. Written reprimand:* communicated in writing to an employee from an Appointing Authority. The written reprimand shall specify:~~

- 1)the conduct or performance that does not meet expectations;
- 2)the impact of the unacceptable conduct or performance;
- 3)future expectations to improve the conduct or performance, and
- 4)potential future actions/outcomes in the event the employee is unable or unwilling to improve as expected.



## DISCIPLINE

Effective Date:

The written reprimand document is placed in the official Town personnel file and retained in accordance with the State of Arizona Records Retention and Disposition Schedule. A Written Reprimand requires an Appointing Authority to provide a Notice of Intent to Discipline—Non-Dismissal in accordance with SECTION 8.

~~*Probationary Period:* a period of time during which an employee's conduct or performance on the job will be closely evaluated for needed improvement in order to meet expectations, as opposed to an Introductory Period. A probationary period is normally imposed in response to repeated unacceptable conduct or the inability to improve performance to an acceptable level. Probationary periods will be for no less than (30) working days and no more than 6 months. The probationary period will be communicated to the employee in writing, with the notice retained in the personnel file in accordance with the State of Arizona Records Retention and Disposition Schedule. The notice will include:~~

- ~~a document (normally a written reprimand), to communicate the need for improvement during the probationary period;~~
- ~~a performance improvement plan, including resources or other measures available to assist the employee in successfully completing the probationary period.~~
- ~~an explanation of the consequences if adequate improvement is not demonstrated.~~

**2. PERFORMANCE IMPROVEMENT PLAN**

- a. **THIS IS A FORMAL WRITTEN PLAN TO HELP THE EMPLOYEE IMPROVE PERFORMANCE OR MODIFY BEHAVIOR. THROUGH THE PLAN, THE SUPERVISOR SHOULD IDENTIFY THE PERFORMANCE OR BEHAVIOR ISSUES THAT NEEDS TO BE CORRECTED AND DEFINE THE PLAN OF ACTION TO GUIDE THE IMPROVEMENT AND/OR CORRECTIVE ACTIONS.**
- b. **AN EFFECTIVE WRITTEN PLAN INCLUDES THE FOLLOWING PARTS:**
  - i. **CLEAR IDENTIFICATION OF THE PERFORMANCE TO BE IMPROVED OR THE BEHAVIOR TO BE CORRECTED**
  - ii. **CLEAR EXPECTATIONS AND METRICS ABOUT THE WORK TO BE PERFORMED OR BEHAVIOR THAT MUST CHANGE**
  - iii. **IDENTIFY THE SUPPORT AND RESOURCES AVAILABLE TO HELP THE EMPLOYEE MAKE THE REQUIRED IMPROVEMENTS**
  - iv. **ESTABLISH A PLAN FOR REVIEWING THE EMPLOYEE'S PROGRESS AND PROVIDING FEEDBACK TO THE EMPLOYEE FOR THE DURATION OF THE PLAN**
  - v. **SPECIFY THE POSSIBLE CONSEQUENCES IF PERFORMANCE AS IDENTIFIED IN THE PLAN ARE NOT MET.**
- c. **PERFORMANCE IMPROVEMENT PLAN S WILL BE FOR NO LESS THAN (30) THIRTY WORKING DAYS AND NO MORE THAN ONE HUNDRED-EIGHTY (180) WORKING DAYS.**
- d. **THE PLAN, AFTER SIGNATURES ARE OBTAINED, WILL BE FORWARDED TO HUMAN RESOURCES TO BE RECORDED IN THE EMPLOYEE'S OFFICIAL FILE.**

**3. DISCIPLINARY Suspension:**

- a. **A SUSPENSION IS CONSIDERED TO BE A SIGNIFICANT DISCIPLINARY ACTION AND MAY BE USED BY A DEPARTMENT HEAD OR DESIGNEE FOR MORE SERIOUS INCIDENTS OR REPETITIONS OF IMPROPER PERFORMANCE OR CONDUCT.**
- b. **A DEPARTMENT HEAD OR DESIGNEE MAY SUSPEND ANY EMPLOYEE WITHOUT PAY FOR CAUSE. EMPLOYEES MAY BE SUSPENDED FOR ANY APPROPRIATE LENGTH OF TIME IN FULL DAY INCREMENTS NOT TO**



## DISCIPLINE

Effective Date:

**EXCEED THIRTY (30) WORKING DAYS. THE DEPARTMENT HEAD OR DESIGNEE MUST FOLLOW THE PRE-ACTION MEETING PROCESS AS OUTLINED BELOW.**

~~e. a period of suspension from work without pay for up to (30) working days. Suspensions shall be accompanied by written notification of the reason for the suspension. Such written notice will be kept in the personnel file and retained in accordance with the State of Arizona Records Retention and Disposition Schedule. A Suspension requires a Notice of Intent to Discipline— Non Dismissal in accordance with SECTION 8.~~

**4. Demotion**

- a. **A DEMOTION FOR A DISCIPLINARY REASON IS CONSIDERED TO BE A SIGNIFICANT DISCIPLINARY ACTION AND MAY BE USED FOR MORE SERIOUS INCIDENTS OR REPETITIONS OF IMPROPER PERFORMANCE OR CONDUCT.**
- b. **A DEPARTMENT HEAD OR DESIGNEE MAY DEMOTE AN EMPLOYEE, FOR DISCIPLINARY REASONS PROVIDED THE EMPLOYEE MEETS THE MINIMUM QUALIFICATIONS OF THE ASSIGNED CLASSIFICATION. THE DEPARTMENT HEAD OR DESIGNEE WILL FOLLOW THE PRE-ACTION MEETING PROCESS AS OUTLINED BELOW.**
- c. **EXCEPT AS OTHERWISE PROVIDED IN THESE RULES, A DEMOTED EMPLOYEE SHALL NOT BE REQUIRED TO SERVE A PROBATIONARY PERIOD IN THE POSITION TO WHICH HE OR SHE WAS DEMOTED.**
- ~~d. involuntary reassignment of the employee to a position in a lower level classification than the current job, more suitable to their abilities based on inability or unwillingness to meet the expectations of the current job classification. An involuntary Demotion requires a Notice of Intent to Discipline— Non Dismissal in accordance with SECTION 8.~~

**5. Dismissal**

- a. **DISMISSAL FOR A DISCIPLINARY REASON IS THE MOST SERIOUS DISCIPLINARY ACTION AND MUST BE USED FOR THE MOST SERIOUS INCIDENTS OR REPETITIONS OF IMPROPER PERFORMANCE OR CONDUCT.**
- b. **A REGULAR STATUS EMPLOYEE MAY BE DISMISSED FROM EMPLOYMENT BY A DEPARTMENT HEAD OR DESIGNEE. THE DEPARTMENT HEAD OR DESIGNEE MUST FOLLOW THE PRE-ACTION MEETING PROCESS AS OUTLINED BELOW.**
- ~~6. involuntary termination of the employee from employment with the Town. The employee will be provided with an opportunity to grieve the dismissal in accordance with SECTION 7 and as outlined in the Town grievance policy. A dismissal requires a Notice of Intent to Dismiss in accordance with SECTION 8.~~

**11.4 SECTION 6.—INVESTIGATORY SUSPENSION:**

- A. ~~An Appointing Authority~~ **DEPARTMENT HEAD OR DESIGNEE** may suspend an employee with pay to effect an investigation or resolution of conduct. The Department Head, Human Resources Director and Town Manager must be notified of such investigatory suspensions before taking action if possible or within 24 hours if not possible due to the seriousness or expediency of the situation. Investigatory Suspension with pay is not a disciplinary action and is not subject to the Town's grievance procedure. The employee shall be contacted by the Human Resources Director, or designee, ~~on or before the expiration of five (5) working days from when the investigatory suspension began,~~ with information about the investigation and any further actions to be taken at that time.



## DISCIPLINE

Effective Date:

- B. Upon consultation with the Human Resources Director and with the approval of the Town Manager, a paid administrative suspension may be extended.

11.5 ~~SECTION 7.~~ INVESTIGATORY PROVISIONS-INTERVIEWS OF EMPLOYEES

- A. If an employee or the ~~Appointing Authority~~ DEPARTMENT HEAD or designee reasonably believes that an investigation interview could result in suspension, demotion or dismissal, the employee may request to have a representative present.
1. **THE REPRESENTATIVE MUST BE AVAILABLE ON REASONABLE NOTICE AND BE OF NO COST TO THE TOWN.**
  2. **THE REPRESENTATIVE MUST BE AN EMPLOYEE AND SHALL NOT BE AN ATTORNEY.**
  3. **THE REPRESENTATIVE SHALL PARTICIPATE IN THE INTERVIEW ONLY AS AN OBSERVER; HOWEVER THE EMPLOYEE SHALL BE PERMITTED REASONABLE BREAKS OF LIMITED DURATION FOR TELEPHONIC OR IN PERSON CONSULTATION WITH OTHERS, INCLUDING AN ATTORNEY, WHO IS IMMEDIATELY AVAILABLE.**
  4. **AT THE CONCLUSION OF THE INTERVIEW, THE EMPLOYEE WILL BE PERMITTED TO CONSULT WITH THE REPRESENTATIVE AND MAY MAKE A STATEMENT NOT TO EXCEED FIVE MINUTES.**
- B. **PRIOR TO THE INTERVIEW THE EMPLOYEE SHALL BE PROVIDED A WRITTEN NOTICE CONTAINING THE FOLLOWING:**
1. **ALL ALLEGED FACTS THAT ARE THE BASIS OF THE INVESTIGATION;**
  2. **THE SPECIFIC NATURE OF THE INVESTIGATION;**
  3. **THE EMPLOYEE'S STATUS IN THE INVESTIGATION;**
  4. **ALL KNOWN ALLEGATIONS OF MISCONDUCT THAT ARE THE REASONS FOR THE INTERVIEW; AND,**
  5. **THE EMPLOYEE'S RIGHT OF REPRESENTATION.**
- C. An interview does not have to be stopped in order to issue another ~~WRITTEN NOTICE Intent to Discipline or Dismiss based on~~ **OF** allegations ~~or~~ **BASED ON** information provided by the employee during the interview.
- D. The ~~Appointing Authority~~ **DEPARTMENT DIRECTOR** or designee does not have to disclose any fact ~~to the employee~~ that would impede the investigation.
- E. ~~An Intent to Discipline or Dismiss does~~ **THE RIGHTS LISTED IN BOTH A. AND B. ABOVE DO** not apply to an interview of ~~AN~~ **AN** the employee that is:
1. In the normal course of duty, counseling or instruction or an informal verbal admonishment by, or other routine or unplanned contact with, a supervisor or any other ~~Appointing Authority~~ **DEPARTMENT HEAD.**
  2. Preliminary questioning to determine the scope of the allegations or if an investigation is necessary.
  3. Conducted in the course of a criminal investigation.
  4. **CONDUCTED IN THE COURSE OF A POLYGRAPH EXAMINATION.**

~~11.6~~ ~~SECTION 8.~~ ~~NOTICE OF INTENT to DISCIPLINE and OPPORTUNITY TO RESPOND:~~ **PRE-ACTION MEETING**

- A. ~~Issuing Notice of Intent to Discipline~~ **CHARGES**



## DISCIPLINE

Effective Date:

1. **BEFORE AN EMPLOYEE CAN BE SUSPENDED, DEMOTED, OR DISMISSED, THE DEPARTMENT HEAD OR DESIGNEE IN CONSULTATION WITH HUMAN RESOURCES, WILL PREPARE A WRITTEN NOTICE OF CHARGES IN SUFFICIENT DETAIL TO APPRISE THE EMPLOYEE OF THE SPECIFIC REASONS FORMAL DISCIPLINARY ACTIONS AGAINST THE EMPLOYEE ARE PENDING. THE NOTICE OF CHARGES WILL CONTAIN:** ~~Prior to a Appointing Authority taking any disciplinary action involving a written reprimand, suspension without pay, involuntary demotion or dismissal of an employee, a Notice of Intent to Discipline or Dismiss, which includes Exhibit A will be issued to the employee. informing the employee of his/her opportunity to present a written response and/or meet in person with the Appointing Authority at a scheduled time, date and place prior to imposing the disciplinary action, specifically referred to as the pre discipline meeting. The Notice of Intent will be issued accordingly:~~
    - a. **AN EXPLANATION OF THE DEPARTMENT'S EVIDENCE;**
    - b. **THE RULES, POLICIES AND/OR PROCEDURES THAT WERE VIOLATED;**
    - c. **THE DATE, TIME AND LOCATION OF THE MEETING; AND**
    - d. **A SUMMARY OF THE EMPLOYEE'S RIGHTS FOR THE PRE-ACTION MEETING.**
  2. **THE NOTICE OF CHARGES WILL BE DELIVERED TO THE EMPLOYEE EITHER BY PERSONAL DELIVERY OR BY CERTIFIED MAIL TO THE EMPLOYEE'S LAST KNOWN ADDRESS ON FILE WITH HUMAN RESOURCES. A COPY OF THE NOTICE OF CHARGES WILL BE FILED WITH THE TOWN HUMAN RESOURCES.**
  3. **EMPLOYEES WILL BE PROVIDED AT LEAST THREE DAYS NOTICE IN ADVANCE OF ANY PRE-ACTION MEETING.**
    - ~~B. Non Dismissal: At least two (2) working days in advance of the pre discipline meeting.~~
    - ~~C. Dismissal: At least seven (7) working days in advance of the pre dismissal review meeting. The employee will be placed on investigatory leave with pay from the time the Notice of Intent to Dismiss is issued until the pre dismissal meeting.~~
- 11.7 **Opportunity to Respond (Pre-Discipline PRE-ACTION Meeting)**
- A. **THE DEPARTMENT HEAD OR DESIGNEE WILL CONDUCT THE MEETING IN CONJUNCTION WITH HUMAN RESOURCES.**
  - B. **THE EMPLOYEE IS NOT REQUIRED TO ATTEND THE MEETING BUT MUST BE ALLOWED TIME AWAY FROM HIS/HER WORK RESPONSIBILITIES TO ATTEND WITHOUT BEING CHARGED ANY LEAVE.**
  - C. **THE EMPLOYEE** may respond in writing or in person to present reasons, along with information and documentation to refute the proposed disciplinary action **AND HAVE A NON-ATTORNEY REPRESENTATIVE WHO IS FROM THE SAME DEPARTMENT PRESENT AT THE MEETING. THE MEETING WILL NOT BE UNREASONABLY DELAYED TO WAIT FOR THE REPRESENTATIVE. THE REPRESENTATIVE WILL SERVE IN AN ADVISORY CAPACITY ONLY AND MAY NOT SPEAK FOR THE EMPLOYEE OR ASK QUESTIONS ON THE EMPLOYEE'S BEHALF.**
  - D. **THE DEPARTMENT HEAD OR DESIGNEE WILL MAKE A RECOMMENDATION TO SUPPORT, MODIFY OR REVOKE THE PROPOSED ACTIONS LISTED IN THE NOTICE OF CHARGES AFTER THE MEETING HAS CONCLUDED.**



**DISCIPLINE**

**Effective Date:**

1. **IF THE DEPARTMENT HEAD OR DESIGNEE DECIDES TO TAKE DISCIPLINARY ACTION, THE DEPARTMENT HEAD OR DESIGNEE WILL GIVE THE EMPLOYEE A WRITTEN NOTICE. THE NOTICE MUST INCLUDE:**
  - a. **THE SPECIFIC ACTION TO BE TAKEN,**
  - b. **THE SPECIFIC REASONS FOR THE ACTION,**
  - c. **THE EFFECTIVE DATE OF THE ACTION, AND**
  - d. **THE EMPLOYEE'S RIGHT TO APPEAL THE DECISION WITHIN TEN WORKING DAYS.**
2. **THE NOTICE WILL BE DELIVERED TO THE EMPLOYEE EITHER BY PERSONAL DELIVERY OR BY CERTIFIED MAIL TO THE EMPLOYEE'S LAST KNOWN ADDRESS ON FILE WITH HUMAN RESOURCES. A COPY OF THE NOTICE WILL BE FILED WITH HUMAN RESOURCES.**

**11.8 APPEAL OF A DISCIPLINARY ACTION**

**A. REGULAR STATUS EMPLOYEES MAY APPEAL A DISMISSAL, DEMOTION, AND/OR SUSPENSION.**

1. **THE WRITTEN APPEAL MUST BE FILED WITH THE HUMAN RESOURCES DIRECTOR AND THE DEPARTMENT HEAD WITHIN TEN (10) WORKING DAYS FROM THE DATE OF SERVICE OF THE DISCIPLINARY DECISION.**
2. **THE REQUEST FOR AN APPEAL MUST STATE THE FACTS UPON WHICH THE APPEAL IS BASED, IDENTIFY ALL PEOPLE AND AGENCIES INVOLVED, CONTAIN ALL THE DOCUMENTS TO BE REVIEWED, AND THE ACTION REQUESTED OF THE TOWN MANAGER OR DESIGNEE.**
3. **THE APPEAL WILL BE REVIEWED BY THE TOWN MANAGER OR DESIGNEE WHO MAY CONFER WITH OTHERS AS REQUIRED, INVESTIGATE THE APPEAL, AND COMMUNICATE A DECISION IN WRITING TO ALL CONCERNED PARTIES WITHIN TEN (10) WORKING DAYS UPON RECEIPT OF THE APPEAL.**

**B. FINAL APPEAL**

1. **REGULAR STATUS EMPLOYEES MAY APPEAL THE DECISION OF THE TOWN MANAGER OR DESIGNEE WITHIN TEN 10 WORKING DAYS OF THE DECISION BY SUBMITTING A WRITTEN REQUEST TO THE HR DIRECTOR AND COPYING THE LEGAL SERVICES DIRECTOR.**
2. **THE HUMAN RESOURCES DIRECTOR WILL SELECT A HEARING OFFICER (HO) AND SET A HEARING DATE.**
  - a. **IN ANY APPEAL, THE TOWN OF ORO VALLEY OR THE GRIEVANT MAY REQUEST A CHANGE OF HEARING OFFICER. THE REQUEST MUST BE GRANTED THE FIRST TIME. ANY SUBSEQUENT REQUESTS MAY BE GRANTED ONLY UPON A SHOWING THAT A FAIR AND IMPARTIAL REVIEW CANNOT BE OBTAINED DUE TO THE PREJUDICE OF THE ASSIGNED HO. THE HUMAN RESOURCES DIRECTOR, WITH THE CONSULTATION OF THE TOWN ATTORNEY, SHALL DECIDE WHETHER A SHOWING OF PREJUDICE**



**DISCIPLINE**

**Effective Date:**

**HAS BEEN MADE.**

- 3. NOT LESS THAN TEN (10) WORKING DAYS PRIOR TO THE HEARING DATE, THE APPELLANT SHALL SUBMIT TO THE HEARING OFFICER, AND COPY THE LEGAL SERVICES DIRECTOR, A POSITION STATEMENT SETTING FORTH THE ARGUMENTS, POTENTIAL WITNESSES AND EVIDENCE THEY ANTICIPATE WILL BE INTRODUCED FOR THE REVIEW. ALL DOCUMENTATION THAT THE APPELLANT INTENDS TO PRESENT OR RELY UPON FOR THE HEARING SHALL BE ATTACHED TO THE POSITION STATEMENT.**
- 4. NOT LESS THAN TEN (10) WORKING DAYS PRIOR TO THE REVIEW, THE LEGAL SERVICES DIRECTOR OR DESIGNEE SHALL SUBMIT TO THE HEARING OFFICER, AND DISCLOSE TO THE APPELLANT, A RESPONDING POSITION STATEMENT INCLUDING POTENTIAL WITNESSES AND EVIDENCE TO BE INTRODUCED OR RELIED UPON DURING THE HEARING.**
  - a. THE LEGAL SERVICES DIRECTOR MAY REQUEST A RESCHEDULING OF THE HEARING DATE IF THEY DO NOT RECEIVE THE APPELLANT'S POSITION STATEMENT 20 WORKING DAYS PRIOR TO THE HEARING.**
- 5. HEARING PROCEDURES**
  - a. THE BURDEN OF PROOF SHALL BE ON THE TOWN.**
  - b. TECHNICAL RULES OF EVIDENCE DO NOT APPLY OTHER THAN PRIVILEGES RECOGNIZED BY ARIZONA LAW.**
  - c. THE REVIEW SHALL BE RECORDED AND THE RECORD MAY BE TRANSCRIBED UPON REQUEST.**
  - d. THE PARTY REQUESTING TRANSCRIPTION SHALL BE RESPONSIBLE FOR ANY COSTS INCURRED.**
  - e. UNLESS REQUESTED OTHERWISE BY THE APPELLANT, REVIEWS AND HEARINGS ARE CONDUCTED PRIVATELY.**
  - f. THE HEARING SHALL PROCEED AS FOLLOWS:**
    - i. THE HO WILL BEGIN THE HEARING BY INTRODUCING ALL PARTIES, SUMMARIZING THE ISSUES, AND IDENTIFYING RELIEF REQUESTED AND OUTLINE THE REVIEW SEQUENCE.**
    - ii. THE ONLY PEOPLE PRESENT DURING THE HEARING SHALL BE THE HEARING OFFICER, THE APPELLANT AND THEIR REPRESENTATIVE (IF APPLICABLE), THE LEGAL SERVICES DIRECTOR OR DESIGNEE, THE HR DIRECTOR, THE TOWN OF ORO VALLEY REPRESENTATIVE AND ANY WITNESSES THE HEARING OFFICER REQUESTS BE PRESENT.**
    - iii. THE APPELLANT WILL PRESENT HIS/HER EVIDENCE THAT THE DECISION SHOULD BE CHANGED.**
    - iv. THE LEGAL SERVICES DIRECTOR WILL PRESENT THEIR EVIDENCE AND SUPPORT FINDINGS.**
    - v. EACH WITNESS FOR THE TOWN OF ORO VALLEY AND THE APPELLANT MAY ONLY BE QUESTIONED BY THE HEARING OFFICER.**
    - vi. THE APPELLANT OR HIS/HER REPRESENTATIVE MAY MAKE COMMENTS OR CLOSING REMARKS.**
    - vii. THE TOWN'S REPRESENTATIVE MAY MAKE COMMENTS OR CLOSING REMARKS.**
  - g. HEARING OFFICER DECISION**



DISCIPLINE

Effective Date:

- i. A DECISION WILL BE ISSUED WITHIN FIFTEEN WORKING DAYS.
  - ii. THE HEARING OFFICER MAY ORDER THAT THE ACTION OF THE TOWN STAND, THAT A LESSER ACTION OR CONSEQUENCE BE IMPOSED, AND/OR THAT SOME OR ALL OF THE RELIEF REQUESTED BY THE APPELLANT BE GRANTED.
  - iii. EXCEPT WHEN THE DECISION AFFIRMS THE DISMISSAL OF AN EMPLOYEE, THE APPELLANT'S SENIORITY RIGHTS SHALL NOT BE AFFECTED BY THE DECISION.
  - iv. IF THE HO ORDERS TO REINSTATE AN EMPLOYEE WHO HAS BEEN SUSPENDED OR DISCHARGED, THEY SHALL SPECIFY AS PART OF THEIR DECISION WHETHER THE EMPLOYEE SHALL RECEIVE BACK PAY FOR ALL OR PART OF ANY TIME LOST AS A RESULT OF TOWN ACTION.
  - v. COPIES OF THE WRITTEN RECOMMENDATION SHALL BE SENT TO THE LEGAL SERVICES DIRECTOR, HUMAN RESOURCES DIRECTOR AND THE APPELLANT.
  - vi. THE HO'S DECISION IS FINAL AND THERE ARE NO ADDITIONAL APPEALS AVAILABLE THROUGH THE TOWN'S APPEALS PROCESS.
  - vii.
6. ~~The Appointing Authority schedules a pre-discipline meeting with the employee in accordance with Section 8.A. to provide the employee an opportunity to respond. The pre-discipline meeting with the Appointing Authority is not an adversarial hearing. The employee may respond in writing or in person to present reasons, along with information and documentation to refute the proposed disciplinary action. If the employee is accompanied by a representative, the representative's role is limited to consulting and advising the employee. The representative will be permitted to ask clarifying questions of the employee and present a statement on behalf of the employee.~~
7. ~~The Appointing Authority must give proper consideration to the employee's written and/or oral response provided in the pre-disciplinary meeting, along with supporting information and documentation. Failure of an employee to submit a written response or appear at the pre-discipline meeting will constitute a waiver of the opportunity to respond and the proposed discipline will be imposed.~~

**11.9 — Notice of Decision**

1. ~~After the scheduled pre-discipline meeting, the Appointing Authority's decision shall be documented in the Notice of Decision and the copy provided to the employee within two (2) working days of the pre-discipline meeting. The original Notice of Decision and personnel action must be completed and include required signatures to be submitted with the final disciplinary packet to the Human Resources Department. Final Notice of Decision must be given before the employee may grieve the discipline.~~

**11.10 — Attachments: —**

1. ~~A — Notice of Intent to Discipline~~
2. ~~B — Notice of Intent to Dismiss~~
3. ~~C — Notice of Decision~~



**DISCIPLINE**

**Effective Date:**  
Attachment A



Notice of Intent to Discipline (Non-Dismissal)

Employee Name	Department / Division	Date

**YOU ARE HEREBY** notified that the \_\_\_\_\_ Department intends to impose discipline as follows: \_\_\_\_\_.

**Reasons for the proposed disciplinary action are stated in "Exhibit A" (attached)**

**NOTICE OF MEETING** In accordance with Town policies and regulations, you have an opportunity to meet with the Appointing Authority or designee to present reasons why the proposed disciplinary action should not occur. A meeting has been scheduled for:

\_\_\_\_\_ **DATE:**

\_\_\_\_\_ **TIME:**

\_\_\_\_\_ **PLACE:**

**NOTICE OF YOUR OPPORTUNITY TO RESPOND** You are entitled to present reasons, along with information and documentation, to refute the proposed disciplinary action at the meeting. The meeting with the Appointing Authority or designee is not an adversarial hearing. If you are accompanied by a representative, the representative's role is limited to consulting and advising you directly. The representative will be permitted to ask you to clarify your statement and/or present a statement on your behalf.

If you do not wish to be present at the meeting, you may respond in writing and present any supporting information and documentation. This written response must be received by the Appointing Authority or designee prior to or at the scheduled meeting for consideration.

Failure to appear at the meeting or submit a written response will constitute a waiver of the opportunity to respond.

Date Served	How Served	By whom

I, \_\_\_\_\_ received a copy of this notice.  
\_\_\_\_\_ Employee Signature

\_\_\_\_\_  
Appointing Authority or designee signature \_\_\_\_\_ Date



**DISCIPLINE**

**Effective Date:**

~~If you are disciplined, you may appeal pursuant to the Town Grievance policy.~~

Attachment B



Notice of Intent to Dismiss

Employee Name	Department / Division	Date

**YOU ARE HEREBY** notified that the \_\_\_\_\_ Department intends to dismiss you from the Town. The dismissal is based on the following: \_\_\_\_\_.

**See attached "Exhibit A"**

**NOTICE OF MEETING** In accordance with Town policies and regulations, a pre dismissal meeting has been scheduled by the Appointing Authority or designee on:

\_\_\_\_\_ **DATE:**

\_\_\_\_\_ **TIME:**

\_\_\_\_\_ **PLACE:**

**NOTICE OF YOUR OPPORTUNITY TO RESPOND** You are entitled to present reasons, along with information and documentation, to refute the proposed dismissal at the meeting. The meeting with the Appointing Authority or designee is not an adversarial hearing. If you are accompanied by a representative, the representative's role is limited to consulting and advising you directly. The representative will be permitted to ask you to clarify your statement and/or present a statement on your behalf.

If you do not wish to be present at the meeting, you may respond in writing and present any supporting information and documentation. This written response must be received by the Appointing Authority or designee prior to or at the scheduled meeting for consideration.

Failure to appear at the meeting or submit a written response will constitute a waiver of the opportunity to respond.

Date Served	How Served	By whom

I, \_\_\_\_\_ received a copy of this notice.



**DISCIPLINE**

**Effective Date:**

\_\_\_\_ Employee Signature

\_\_\_\_\_  
Appointing Authority or designee signature \_\_\_\_\_ Date

If you are dismissed, you may appeal pursuant to the Town Grievance policy.

Attachment C



Notice of Decision

Employee Name	Department / Division	Date

After review and consideration of all information provided at the pre disciplinary review meeting and/or submitted in writing on \_\_\_\_\_ and the information set forth in "Exhibit A", the decision is as follows:

\_\_\_\_\_  
 Discipline will be issued as proposed in the Notice of Intent effective \_\_\_\_\_.

\_\_\_\_\_  
 Other \_\_\_\_\_.

**GRIEVANCE RIGHTS:**

Disciplinary action may be appealed pursuant to the Town Grievance Policy. The Grievance must be submitted in writing within ten (10) working days from the date of receiving the decision.

Date Served	How Served	By whom

I, \_\_\_\_\_ received a copy of this notice.  
\_\_\_\_\_  
Employee Signature

\_\_\_\_\_  
Appointing Authority or designee signature \_\_\_\_\_ Date